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PRELIMINARY REPORT ON ARCHAEOLOGICAL EXCAVATIOWS
IN BONNYCASTLE FARK, 1981

Gragory G. Monks
Univeraity of Manltoba

Introduction

The purpose of the excavations in Bennycastle Park was to
determine the exact location and conditien of that portion of Upper Fort
Garyy burled under the park. The Cicy of Winnipeg and the Downtowm
Winnipeg Association had sponsorad brief exeavarions in the Forc Garry
Gate Fark in 1%78 and 1979, and it was deairable to complement this work
by examining the ouly other pertion of Upper Forc Garry rhat i3 presencly
accassible. The excavarions in Bonnycastle Park can also be seen as a
compléement Lo the eventual work that will be done In the €N East Yards
under the Agreement for Becreatfon and Conservation (ARC). Im shorr,
the exeavariona in Beonnyeaztle Park contribute te the total picture of
exploration, aettlement and trade at the junction of the Red and
Assinjboine Rivers,

Blsrorical Background

The conatruction of Upper Fort Garcy began in 1835, ac which
time a stone walled fort with bastlons ak sach corner was erected. In
1853, work wazs begun on an extension of the fort te the north. The wells
of the extension conglaced of inner and outer wooden walla separacted by
tubble fill., The stone gateway now standing in Upper Fort Garry Gate Park
wag the back entrance to the fort and was used primarily as che Governor's
private entrance. An 1876 mzp of Winnipeg compiled by the Federal
Surveyor R.C. McPhillipe shows Upper Fort Garty in full operation as of
tnat date. disterical Records indicate that the fort was dismantled in
1382 1in order to sctraighten Main 5treet and thereby facilitate streetcar
operation.

By 1895, aeveral small bulldings had been erected aleng the
west side of south Malo Street im what is now Bonnycastle Park. These
buildings were located approximately at the point where the fort's south-
weat bastion formerly stood. Beiweeno 1595 and 1905 a streetcar bam,
kelonging to the Winnipeg Electric Streetcar Compeny, was erscted along
Assinilboine Avenue approximately 100 feeb from Maln Street. At this
lecation, the streetcar batm would have stood just to the west of the
formey fort's west wall. Leading off Mein Street into the barn were at
least seven tracks which were not taken up until the early 1980e.
Subsequently, the area that is new Bonoycastle Park was landscaped.
This operation required a conaiderable amount of fill to be brought in
from unknown sources. The reswlt fs the present-day BDonnycastle Park.
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Archaeclogical work on fur trade posts in che Red-Assinibodine
River area has not been extensive. Lower Fort Garry wasg extengively
examined in che mid-1960s and was reported on by J.¥. Chism (1272). This
report indicated the lacations of excavations and the nature of recovered
structural remains, but pertable artifacts are neot discussed. In 1578,
test excavations were conducted by P.J. Priess to examine deposite under-
neath and adjacent to the rear gateway of Upper Fort Garry (Prless 1980).
This gateway ia the one presencly standing in the Fort Gary Gate Park.
Scructural details were also the maln product of Priess' work. Further
text excavaticns of the pallsades in the Fort Garry Gate Park were under-
takne by M. Kelly in 1979. %o repert on this work is yet available.

Aims

The alm of 198l excavations was to test the deposits under
Bannycastle Park to determine the exact lecation, state of preservationm,
and petential for future investigations of the Upper Fort Garry remalns.
It was necessary to determine what form the "dismantling" of the forc walls
had taken. Had they been partly or completely knockad down, or had they
been taker away? It was also necessary to disecover axactly hew the siene
walls had been buflt, since photograpnic records do uot ecnvey Chia sori
of informaticon completely. The test excavations were designed to provide
information on the depth of modern fill that had been deposited on the
site and the extent to which the streetcar tracks had been removed. In
short, the 1981 excavatlons were set up as a small-scale feasibility
study which wight or might not lead tu subsequent work.

Fleld Frocedures

4 three dimensional referente grid was established. The
horizontal coordinates of thia grid were tied into the City of Winnipeg's
Special Survey, one marker of which {8 a steel stake on the aouth side
of Assiniboine Avenue at the foct of Fort Street. This pin was assigned
the coordinates & 100 m B 100 m so that all informacion recorded withln
Botmycastle Park would fall in the northeaet quadrant of the grid. Tne
vertical dimension of the grid was established in reference to the Geodesic
Survey brass plug that is set into the foundatiom of the pumphouse 1o the
southeast corner of Bonnycastle Fark. This plug is 232,203 m above sea
level.

A contour map of the northeast portion of Bonnycastle Park
was generoualy provided by the City of Winnipeg's Land Surveys and Real
Estate Lepartment (Fig. 1). The McFhillips map indicated quite accucately
whers the weat wall of tne fort snould lie, 80 a trench 8 mx 1l o
consisting of four excavation units of Zm X 1 ®m placed end-to-end was
centered over the wall's anticipated location approximately at right
angles to it. The coordinatea of this trench were N93-94m El76-lB4w.
At the same time, & small test excavation of 22 m x 1 m was set out at
N 65-66, E 190~192 m to explore the approximate location of the fore's
southwest bastion. Subaequently, excavation units weére opened at N 92-93 m,
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E 176~178 m; N 92-93 m, £ 180-182 m; and N 64-65 n, £ 190-191 g A
convention wag adopted by which excavation units werve always reé
to 1n cerms of che horizontal coordivares of the northeaat :nrneirred

Mo indicatiocns were avallable as to the sequence, depth
and cooplexity of strata in the site. To address thim asituation, a 1 g
x 1 m test excavation unit was removed act N 93-94 m, € 176-177 n. The
deposics were removed f{n l0=-cm arbltrary levels within natural strata,
Square-ended shovels were used to remove the strata containing modern
materials, and finer tools such as mason’s trowels and grapefruir knives
were used to excavate rhe scracum contalning the Upper Fore Garry remains,
All excavated earth was screened through 1/4" mesh, and all recovered
information was recorded according to accepred archaeclogical practice,

Stratificacion

Five major soll strata were detected, and each one was
assigned & letter of the alphabet. Stratum A, the upperwost, consisted
of 5-10 cm of black topsoll, sod and roots. Stratum E was a thick
deposit of recent fill that was used to elevate and shape the present
contours of Bonnycastle Park. This fill, approximately 50 <m chick,
consisted of a jumbled mass of disturbed silts and clays that varied
in colour from brovm ko grey to yellow. Stratum C was composed of compack
sand, gravel, clay and rock and was 5=10 ¢m thick. A dark palecscl
varying in thickness from 10-20 cm comprised Stratum D. Beneath this lay
mdisturbed river silts that sppear to be relatively homogenoua in ctheir
composition and greyish=-brown colour. These gtratigraphic descriptions
were consiatent throughout all excavation units in the trench near
Assiniboine Avenue {Fig. 2). In the excavation units near the flower
bed beside Main Street, the stratificarion was much more diaturbed due
to the recent installation of numercus underground structures. S5Strata A
and B were readily discernable, but recent disturbance had apparently
caused some stratigraphic inversien. Excavations in this area were not
deep encugh to encounter umdisturbed silts.

501l samples taken from each stratum were analyzed by thas
Manitoba Provinclal Scil Testing Laboratory at the University of Manitoba.
4 series of samples from different depchs within the undisturbed river
siits were submitted in order to see if these deposits were as homogencus
ss they appeared. The results of the mechantical and organic fraction
analyses ave presented in Table 1.

Mot surprisingly, the table shows that strata which were or
are ground surfaces, Strata A, C and D, contaln the largest proportiona
of organic material., Further, Strata A and ¢ contain high proporccions
of sand. Stratum B shows characterlstics similar to those of the upper
portions of Stratum &. This sltuation arises primarily due to the face
that Stratum B consists of imported silt amd clay fill. The samples {rom
Scratum £ appear to be divided into two groups. The upper group, from
122-170 cm DBD, contalns relatively high proportions of sandy, elay and
organlc material and relatively low proportions of silt in comparisoen
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TABLE 1

Percentages of Mechanical and Organic
Co
Selected So0il Samplea, Main Trench, E;::t;;“tﬁv

Stratum 4 % % x
Sand 5ile Clay .Urganig
A 14 42 i 6.4
B b 27 67 1.4
(M 18 40 42 2.8
D 4 25 Fal 2.4
E (122 cm DBD)* 5 55 a4l 0.9
E (160 cm DBD) 4 35 &1 1.0
E (170 cm DBD) 6 32 62 3.7
E {220 ecm DBD} 21 67 12 0.4
E {280 em DBDY) 32 56 12 0.1

&
DBD = Depth Below Datum

to the lower, group of samples from 270-280 cm DBD, Thie situation suggesis
that the undistrubed river silts are not as homogenous as they appear to

the naked eye. The higher proportions of s1lt in the upper group of strata
may indicate that the water containing the materials deposited as the lower
group of samples was moving faster than the water containing materials
deposited as the upper group of samples. Whether different depositicnal
eventa or differept stages of the same depositional event are reptesented
yremains to be determfned. Given that Lhe upper zanple from Stratum E varies
gomewhat from the two immediately below it suggescs that the full complexlcty
of the depositicnal history of the ailts requires further investigation.

Tae cultural contenta of the strata are revealing. Strata A,
B and € contain modern materials. Stratum D and the very top of Stratum E
contain fur trade and aboriginal materiala. Below the surface of Stratum E
ara sterlle deposits.

Cultural Materials
Features

The weat wall of Upper Fort Garry wag encountered at E 181-182 m,
approximately 1 = eaft of where it was aoticipated to have been. The
remaing of the wall conslsted of large, unmodified limestene cobblea and
boulders held together by a soft mortar (Fig. 3). These remains are
approximately 1 m wide and are oriented just off the right angle to the
leng axis of the main ttench. Recazuse no evidence of construction was
tound below these remains, they are interpreted as the foundaticons of the
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west wall of the inicial Upper Fort Garry. This £

in Stratum [, the old topsoil layer, and it sugges::niigiozh:estid on and
Upper Fort GCarry were bullt directly on the ground surface. 1:2 tSLOE

of the stone walls probably caused the foundations to become emhedﬁeﬁht

in the ground surface. The absence in adiacent excavaticn units of ztenes
from upper portions of the wall indicates that dismantling of fort walls
involved complete removal of wall macerials down to the ground surface
and transportation of these materials from the site.

A second feature, discovered quite by accident in N 93-94 m,
E 176-178 m, consists of the wall and corner of a log building (Fig. 4).
This bulldiag is of particular ipterest because its uppermosr log lies
in Stratum E, the undisrurbed river silts, just below the bottom of
Sctratum . Excavation down the outside of the log wall approached 3 m
and revealed chat the wall was almost 2 m high. The logs were oak and
they had been roughly axed or adzed to form a flar exterior surfzace.
The mortheast corner of the building stood at N 93.23 m, E 178 m. This
corner was made by cheopping the end of sach lop to form a tenon. The
butts of these logs had an unfinished appearance in a number af cases
as if the wedge-shaped end that resulted from chopping the tree dewn had
just been lefc., In spite of rhis, the tenons for the corner of the
building were made carefully. A&n effort seems to have been made Lo
fashion tenona that sloped dewn and out from the bullding. The purpose
of this method of construction was to allow any water ko run cut of the
corner of che bullding, thereby helping to keep the interior dry and
the corner from decomposing rapidly.

The spaces between Che logs produced large quantitles of wood
chips and silt. Thls suggests that chips produred while the logs were
being shaped were mixed with mud and used as chinking.

Excavation unit N 92-93, E 176-178 o was cpened in an attempt
to examine a portion of the interier of the structure. By the time
excavations ceased, work had progressed only as far as the bottom of
the uppermost leg. It appeared that Stratum D passed over the top of
this lop and then dipped down plightly ilnside the structure. Artifacts
contemporaneous with the occupation of Upper Fort Garry were found in
this matrix.

The brief examination of this lop struclture revealed that it
apparently had not been bullt on an old topseill zone. Instead, the
bottom log rested on undisturbed river sllts. Paradexically, however,
there were no signs of disturbance in the goil profilea immediately
outside the wall to indicate that a hele might have been dug intoc the
eilts to accommodate this structure.

The northeast corner of this structure lay approximately 1 o
west of che Upper Fort Garry wall foundationm, and the stratigraphic
evidence at the time excavation ceaged suggested that the structurs
was buried in deposits that lay below the stratum on which Upper Fort
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Garry was built. No interpretation is present]

for the location of the structure ia relation :i :;21;::te tgna“CU““t

hand, the apparently different relative apes of the twa E;aturethe ather
rough-hewn, but technieally sophisticated, attribures of the 105 and the
suggested that it might predate the fort., IF this sugpestion u§r2t2“°““‘e
the structure might be as early as 1738, the date at which La ?etEndiuel
Fort Rouge was built, thereby making it one of the oldest European e
crructures in western Csnada. At this time, however, there is insufficient
evidence to support any firm cooclusions.

A rhird fearure was uncovered in the southerly group of excavation
unirs. This feature consisted of large cobbles and areas of crude mortar
and appearad ro be portions of the fart's wall foundations {Flg. 3). The
cobbles were not as large as those encountered to the narch, nor were they
as closely packad. It is thought that dismantling of the wall and its
foundations may have been more comprehensive in this area.

There is some concern over this interpretation because a buried
electrical cable was exposed at E 191.5 m that ran from north to south
through the excavaticn unlt. Also, a large wocden timber approximately
6" x 6" protruded vertically from the floor of the excavation unit
immediately to the east of the rock and mortar concentratiea. The top
of this timber protruded 10 cm above the elevation of the rock and mortar
concentration. Further, pleces of wood, including a possible 2" x 4!
fragment were recovered below the concentration of rock and mertar. These
pieces of evidence indicate that stratigraphic disturbance, possibly severa,
aceurred at this lecation at ome or more times in the past. For this
reasen, the rock and mertar concencration may have been produced as 2
result of the disturbances rather than any dlomantling of the fort.

Artifacts

With very few excepticns, the vecovered artif=cts were of
Furcpean manufacture. Table IT presents the artifacts according to
their material category.

In addition to these materials, a pumber of Eragments of bone
and wood were recovered. Idencification and quantification of these
pategories are not yet complete, but several [ragments of a long bone
from a large mammal have been flaked at one end. The remainder of the
bone Ltems seem highly fragmentary. An impressionistic examination of
the wood suggests that {t is composed primarily of fragments of railroad
ties, chips of wood from the chinking ip the log SCIuGEtuTe, and miscel laneous
fragments.

Identification of the materials listed in Table 11 revealed some
inceresting information. In cthe glass category, at least 143 piecas are
flat and clear. These most likely are window pane glass fragments. Among
the remaining pleces of glass are: one Plackwoods beverage bottle that
pre-dates 1929, and one hase of a Blackwoods baverage bottle, four pleves
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Arvifacts Recovered from Upper Fort Garry, 1981
Excavations, by Material Category

Glass

flat, clear

Elackwoods

lens

drinking glass

wine bottle

beer battle
wnldentifiable [ragments
blue bead [ragment

Ceramics

kaolin pipe fragments

whire earthenware

Bosphorus pattern

B700 pattern

ffamilla pattern
Continental Views pattern
. Jlar fragments

procelain

a. doll head

b. unidentifiable

brick

vitrifled white earthenware
ELOoneyare

coarse, ted glazed earthenware
unidentifiable

® a0 oOw

Matal

nails

nmiscellaneons fastenings
gpherical metal balls
bucton

1546 nickel

railroad tle places
brass stralght pins
miscellanaous

Scone
knife river flint flake
miscellaneous flakes

Miscellaneous

coal/fcoke
asphalt

a7

TABLE IL

184

24

e RS ey

214
24

A L R

=

17
13
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Table 1I, contcinued

Migcellaneous, concinued

cement k|
morEar 20
shell 3
mother-of-pearl button 1
markles 2
graphite contact shoe 1
leather 2
TOTAL 904

of lens glaas that are nmest likely from automobile headlights; fragments
of two drinking glasses with faceted stems; fragments of at least two
different winte becttles, but neither 13 complete nor datable; and fifteen
pleces vf beer boktle.

Ameng the ceramics, 24 kaolin plpe fragments were recovered.
There are at least six different pipes represeated, and ameng these are:
a plain-bowl pipe frapment possible with the markings "TD" on it a
plpe stem marked "Montreal®, four pipe bowl frapments, one of which shows
a Scoccish Thiatle, another showa a Fleur=-de=1ia, and the fourth has an
unidentified meuldad relief patterm, There are 73 pleces of white earthen—
ware and on some of cheae are designa that can and have beer dated. Seven
pleces of "Bosphorus" pattern have been identified. This fs a brown
transfer pattern, likely manufactured by John Marshall and Company in
Scotland approximately 1854-1899. It 1s poseible that other manufacturers
way hawe used the seme pattern. There is no label to identify John Marahall
and Coxpany definfeely, but it is likely toc have been mamufartured by him.
The “'Bosphorua” design also has been ldentified at Lower Fort Garry. At
least two pieces of blue transfer printed pattern, identified '"B700", were
alec recovered, 1r was manufactured by W.T. Copeland or Copeland and
Garrett Company about 1838 to at least 1B47. COne sherd of blue transfer
pattern identified as “Cami{lla", manufactured by either Copeland and Garrett
of W.W. Gopeland from appvoximately 1833 to rthe present, was alse recevered.
A rimsherd of blue tramsfer pattern identified as elther "Louis Quatcrze"
or "Continental Views" waa noted as well, and it was probably made by
Copeland or Copeland and Garrvett. It ia interesting rhae the B700, Camilla,
Louls Quatorze, and Continental Views patterns hsve all heen previcusly
excavated in assceiation with Lower Fort Garyy {(Sussman 1979:12, 14).
Alsa inecluded amongst the ceramice are 21 pleces of a single vessel that,
when reaggsembled as much as possible, constitute what is obvlously a
crenelated jar. On the bottom of this jar 1s impressed an "M" and this
may be the begimming of the world "Malling”. Positive ideatification on
this mark should be available in the future. Eight pieces of porcelain
were recovered, one fragment of which was a pertioa of & doll's head.
Eighteen bricks were identified among the ceramics, as were eight plecesn
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of vigrified white earthenware, si{x pleces of stoneware, and 11 pieces
of red-glazed coarse sarthenware.

The total of 240 nails includes not only nails but, for
purposes of brevity, close to two dozen miscellaneous fastenings which
include bolts and scraws.

Although there were only three Pleces of cement, one proved
to be moat unusual. It contained a bone fragment that 1a clearly visible
along one fractured gsurface. The cement 1s obviloualy quite tecent, and
the reason why a piece of bone would be included in it is the subject
cf some speculaticn.

Among the bone artifacts are four bona taols that were panu-
factured by flaking. This 1s an unusual recovery because bone ia normally
worked by abrasfon. In the past, archaeologlsts usually assumed that anly
stone tools were manufactured by flaking. We have also idencified
tentatively two or three bone flakes that may have resulted from the
manufaccure of bone toals.

Under the miscellanecus category there is cne blue glase trade
bead fragment. This bead was manufactured in halves in a mold, and when
it fractured it did so down the mold seam. Alse in the miscellaneoua
Category 1s ome collar button made of either wother~of=-pearl or
irridescent celluioid, two modern marblea, one streetcar contact shoe
made of graphite, and two pleces of leathery,

The chronological evidence provided by the ceramir pattern dates
confirme earlier susplcions that Stratum D 1is indeed an old topseil zone
on which Upper Fort Garry was built and on which the activities associated
with the fort were conducted, There are still no artifacts that date prior
to 1836 aod none cthat are definitely associated with the log structure.
Once the faunal remsins and pieces of wood are identified and coded, the
computer-assisted analysis of all artifact materials will pracesad,

Interpretatisn

The depositional history of the asife has been influenced by
natural and cultural factors. Tlooding of the Red and Assiniboine Rivers
was responsible for the deposition of the clays and siles of Strat b and E.
There wag an appareat reduction in the rate of siltation as evidenced by the
bulld-up of organic debris that characterizes the silt and clay matrix of
Stratum D. MHuman agencies of deposition then replaced natursl agencies
as the gandy, gravelly matrix of Stratum C was laid down in conjunction
with the streetcar and trolly cperations that ceased on the site in tha L9604,
Landscaping to form the present contours of Bonnycastle Park was
regpongihle for rhe thick, convaluted matrix of mottled tlay and silt
laballed Stratym B. Stratum 4, the roct and topsoil zone, represents
the final step in park landscaping. Throughout the course of European
use of rhe site, disturbance of the deposits in some areas hag resulted
from installation of asuch modern phenomens 28 electrical cablea, aprinkler
systems, and sewer and water mains, In locations where such items have
beer installed, the standard sail profile is aobvicusly inapplicable.
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Superipposed on the depositional history of the site 13 a
sequence of building construction, The log structure, buried in apparently
undisturbed river silts, may be the samé age as, or clder than, Upper Fort
Garry. Further excavation is requirad to clarify the chrenological and
functional relationship between the log structure and the fart. The
constructlon of Upper Fort Garry, begum in 1836, underwent a series of
additions and modificatlon until the eventuwal diamentling of the entire
complex in 1882. These additiena and meodifications, altheough not present
or clearly recognized in the 1981 excavations, are to be expected fn furture
work at the site and will likely be recognizable as superimposed features
and relatively early stratigraphic disturhanes.

Comacruction associated with the streetcar and trolly aystem had
little effect on the deposite in the area where the 1981 excavations tock
place. Levelling of the old gromnd surface, and provision of an adequate
roadbed on which tracks could be laid are actilvities represented by
Seratum C.

The mpst recent history of construction 13 represented by Strata A
and B and, to some extent, by recent matrix disturbances assoclated with
the various underground structures in the park. While thesde recent develcp-
ments are not bulldings per se, they were undertaken withic the larger
context of road grade leveliing and building construction in Winnipeg.

Artifacts can be divided inte two main groups: late historic
and early bistoric. The late hiscoric materials axe found in Stratum C
and above and represent the poat-Upper Fort Garry occupatlon of the site.
The early historic artifacts are found in Stratum D and the very top of
Stratum E. They are in no case stiributable to a time perlod eignificantly
eariier than the time at which the fort was buiit and occupled. Whether
artifacts of an earlier historic time period are discovered in assoclaticn
with the log structure awaits further inveatigation.

The lithic aod faunal materiala were recovared from Stratum D
and the uppermost positions of Stratum E. They are therefore thought to
be contemporaneouys with the early historic artifaces. They may have been
left behind by Native or Metis groups that camped cutaide the fort while
trading. The azmount and distribution of the lithics end fauna are not
sufficlent to indicate aoy suhetantial prehistoric occupation of the
site prior to c¢enatruction of the fort.

A shife in orientation of interest ia indicated by the results
of the 1981 excavation. At first, the main interest was in locating the
remains of Upper Fert Garry and determining what form and atate aof
preservation those remains exhibired. The fortuitous discovery of the
log structure has raised a serles of queations that require answers. One
wishes to know ita size, age, fumction, and relationship to the forr, if
any. Purther examination of the log atructure and the fort remaina will
be directed at providing answers to.these queationa..
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